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Introduction

During the second half of the 19th century the types and varieties of glass
bottles greatly increased. Generalized bottles of an earlier era gave way to
specialized bottles for many products and companies. Along with the expansion of
bottle types there was an increasing use of mould numbers by glass manufacturers as a
means of inventory control and a handy identification device for customers ordering
bottles. Mould numbers are often the only markings on glass containers from the
second half of the 19th century and into the early 20th century. Although they have
potential for the identification of a bottle's manufacturer, its function, and age, very
little information has been assembled on mould numbers used by a succession of glass
manufacturers in Montreal, Hamilton, Toronto, and Wallaceburg. Among the com-
panies involved are the Diamond Glass Company, the Diamond Flint Glass Company,
and the Sydenham Glass Company, which all became part of the Dominion Glass
Company in 1913. Other glass companies which probably originated some moulds in
these lists will be discussed in the sections of the paper that enumerate the moulds
from the glass plants in Montreal, Hamilton-Toronto, and Wallaceburg. Before
presenting these mould lists, it will be necessary to describe mould numbers and their
functions.

One of the first glass researchers to attempt identification of Canadian glass
containers using mould numbers was Robert Rosewarne (1971). He describes how
numbers were cut into the base plates of moulds and some of the characteristics of
mould numbers. The earliest base numbers were drawn on the base and then cut into
the mould with a small cold chisel and hammer. Under these conditions the mould
numbers could be in any style, such as script or serifed Roman letters, although the
most common type seen is what printers call "sans serif" or plain block letters and
numbers (Rosewarne 1971: 27). For numbers to appear correctly oriented on a bottle
they had to be cut into the mould in a mirror image, but occasionally they were not
and the figure appears reversed on the bottle. This problem was eliminated through
the use of small number punches which when struck by a hammer left an impression of
the number in the mould base plate (Rosewarne 1971: 27). Mould numbers can also be
cut into base plates with mould cutting machinery.

Bottle mould numbers have been used by many different glass companies and
attributing a glass container to a particular glassworks should be done only with other
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supporting evidence such as matching the bottle with illustrations in glassmakers'
catalogues and descriptions from mould lists. Bottle mould numbers serve several
functions, including the following:
Identification of the bottle, particularly for customers placing orders.
.8 Mould and inventory control of the factory.

3. Quality control for bottle production, i.e. bottles with defects can be used
to identify the defective moulds that produced them.
4. Product liability, e.g. should a bottle burst, the mould number, in combina-

tion with trademarks and date codes, can tell how old the bottle was and
what company produced it.

Mould numbers are usually assigned sequentially and have some chronological
significance. However there is evidence in the Dominion Glass Company lists that
blocks of numbers were reserved for different reasons, such as numbers for table glass
or lamp chimneys. In the Hamilton-Toronto mould number series, for example, the
bottle numbers jump from 500 to 900, suggesting the in-between numbers were blocked
out for some other type of product. In other words, bottle mould 920 in that series
may have been made a short time after bottle mould 500. If blocks of numbers set
aside were later used out of sequence, then the relative chronology obviously would
not hold.

The sequence in which the moulds were made does not necessarily have any
relationship to how long a mould stayed in production, e.g. mould number 240, which
was made before 430, could remain in production well after mould 430 was discon-
tinued. In short, it will probably be much easier to establish when moulds were
introduced than to find the date they ceased being used.

From examination of the mould lists associated with the Dominion Glass
Company and its predecessors, it is clear that a mould number represents a bottle
shape and capacity rather than just one mould. The 1926 mould list, for example, has
3-ounce American panels as mould number 148. This mould number had five hand
moulds, six Owens machine moulds, and two O'Neil semi-automatic moulds (Dominion
Glass Company Ltd. 1926: 25). Changes in technology obviously did not change mould
numbers. Unfortunately the 1926 mould list does not provide information on the types
of closure, or other details which would indicate how much difference there would be
in a shape and size before a different mould number would be assigned. Evidence that
the type of closure could be different and the mould numbers remain the same is
provided by the 1933 inventory of bottles at the Dominion Glass Company's Hamilton
plant. In that inventory mould 1504 was for mustard cups made for anchor or screw
tops and mould 1914 was for jellies, again with anchor or screw tops (Dominion Glass
Co. 1933: 15a and 16). In hand production the finish of the bottle, in most cases, was
not part of the mould so the same mould number could be assigned to bottles with
different styles of finishes. Machine-produced bottles, both semi-automatic and fully
automatic, had separate moulds for the finish part of the bottle that attached to the
parison and the blow mould. Therefore it was easy to have more than one style of
finish for any given mould. In other words, how the bottle was made and the type of
closure used do not appear to have been determining factors in assigning mould
numbers. From the evidence it would appear that bottle shape and capacity are the
two determining elements for a mould number.

Trademarks and Date Codes on Dominion Glass
Company Bottles

Trademarks were rarely used on Canadian bottles before 1920. Prior to that



time the most commonly found embossed marks on Canadian produced bottles were
mould numbers. The two major manufacturers of glass containers in Canada after
World War I were the Consumers Glass Company and the Dominion Glass Company.
According to Rosewarne, Consumers Glass Company began using their C in a triangle
trademark in 1920 (Rosewarne 1971: 25). The Dominion Glass Company did not
register its D in a diamond trademark until 27 June 1928 (King 1981). This trademark
was replaced in 1970 by a new one that looks like a bottle mould forming the profile of
a D in its centre (King 1977a: 3). However the D in the diamond trademark continued
to appear into the 1970s on some bottles. The following are examples of post-1970
bottles using a D in the diamond trademark:

Mould Date
Number  Colour Plant Contents Purchased Mark
360 Flint Redcliff Mrs. Stewarts Bluing April 1977 March-April/1977
60 Amber  Wallaceburg Saccharin Tablets June 1978 Sept.-Oct. 1976
75 Amber Redcliff Bone meal & vitamins Spring 1981 Nov.-Dec. 1979
125 Amber Redcliff Vitamins Oct. 1981 Sept.-Oct. 1979

Although these bottles show continuing use of the old mark, by 1980 the great majority
of bottles had Dominion's new trademark. In 1976 the Dominion Glass Company Ltd.
changed its name to Domglas Ltd. (King 1977a: 3). This is not likely to be useful in
dating bottles because the company name rarely appears on containers.

The next innovation in container marks was the introduction of date codes. For
the Dominion Glass Company, the first code was used in 1940. It consisted of a series
of dots and lines and was intended to be used through 1943 (Stevens 1967: 256). Dates
in this system would be molded on the bottom of the bottle and read as follows:

Jan.-March April-June July-Sept. Oct.-Dec.
1940 o) 00 000 0000
1941 o 00 000 0000
1942 0 00 000 0000
1943 o) 00 000 0000

This dating system was designed in April of 1939 and illustrated for the above 4 years
in a Dominion Glass Company document that Stevens reproduced in his book (1979:
256). Robert Rosewarne illustrates a milk bottle with the D in a diamond trademark
and four dots indicating the system was used at least through 1940 (1971: 31). This
date code system may not have been used past 1940.

According to Paul Wilkinson of the Mould Design and Engineering division of
Domglas, a dating system using letters and numbers was introduced around 1941 (1979:
1). In this system, the letters A through F were used in front of the D in the diamond
trademark, each letter representing a 2-month period, i.e. A = January/February, F =
November/December, etc. Immediately following the trademark would be one or two



digits for the year of production. These numbers were the last digit of the year of-
production. Wilkinson says that the letter system was used until 1953 when a
progressive box code was introduced. Because the digits for 1941, 1942, and 1943
overlap with 1951, 1952, and 1953, it is difficult to know if bottles having 1, 2, or 3
after the trademark are from the early 1940s or 1950s.

Confirmation of the letter/number system beginning in 1941 is provided by four
flavouring extract bottles from a land fill site in Ottawa. All four of these bottles
have Owens scars, indicating they were made on the Owens automatic bottle-blowing
machine. The bottles are the same and have "1 1/2 Fl. 0z." embossed on the side and
"EST. 91" on the base. Table | presents their date code information.

Table |
Mark Months Year Artifact Number Plant
E DI September-October 1941 IU5SEL-11 Hamilton
B D3 March-April 1943 IUSE1-10 Hamilton
B D4 March-April 1944 1U5EL-9 Hamilton
D D5 July-August 1945 IUSEI-115 Not present

According to Tom King, the Owens machine was being replaced by the Individual
Section machine in the 1940s (King 1965: 41). What identifies the above bottles as
being from the 1940s rather than the 1950s is the fact that they were made on the
Owens machine and that the 1944 and 1945 examples do not have progressive box
systems to designate the months. Three of the above marks have dots right above the
D in a diamond, indicating they were made in the Hamilton Plant.

A dot around the trademark to indicate the factory of production was used with
the letter/number date code. The dot placement around the trademark indicates the
following factories: 12 o'clock = Hamilton; 3 o'clock = Wallaceburg; 6 o'clock =
Redcliff; 9 o'clock = Point St. Charles. In the 1960s two new factories were built and
their location dots were as follows: 4:30 o'clock = Burnaby; 10:30 o'clock = Bramalea
(King 1977a).

The letter/number date system was replaced by the progressive box system in
1953 (Wilkinson 1979). The progressive box before the trademark indicated the
following 2-month periods: | = January-February; L= March-April; LI= May-June; [ =
July-August; M= September-October;BH= November-December. This system was less
complicated to use because it was easier to change the symbol in the mould base plate.
Domglas still uses this system, as does the Consumers Glass Company, although it is
not clear when they started using it.

In addition to the dating codes used by the Dominion Glass Company, there was
the use of a V prefix with mould numbers beginning in late 1945. By that time the
mould number series at Dominion had progressed into the 9900s. Many of the earlier
mould numbers had become obsolete. A new series of mould numbers was begun with a
V prefix. The prefix was used until the old series had dropped to around 350 items

which were renumbered into the new series (Wilkinson 1979). The V was dropped in the
mid-1950s.



Sources for the Mould Number Lists

In the 19th century the glass business was one of uncertainty and instability.
Glass factories often changed hands and new owners commonly changed the names of
factories. However the market served by the factories, the products produced, and
the equipment, such as moulds, were usually more constant through time.

Bottle moulds were a capital investment that retained value and had a long use
life. Some of the bottle moulds in a 1926 inventory of the Dominion Glass Company's
Hamilton plant are found listed in catalogues that date from before the Dominion
Glass Company was formed in 1913. These moulds were brought into production by the
glass factories that were absorbed by or became the Dominion Glass Company.

To establish the origins and relationships between the various sets of bottle
moulds, mould numbers were extracted from seven catalogues and a 1926 mould
inventory from the Hamilton plant of the Dominion Glass Company. These mould lists
generally have three pieces of information that enable us to trace the mould through
various plants. They include the mould number, capacity of the bottle, and a brief
description of the bottle that usually establishes its function. Five of the catalogues
had mould numbers listed by the cities where the factories were located. These five
lists were the starting point of this study. Unfortunately only one of the catalogues
was dated by the manufacturer. Therefore it will be necessary to discuss the dating of
the catalogues before going into a discussion of the mould numbers they contain.
Copies of these catalogues are held in the Dominion Glass Company Archives which
have been deposited with Public Archives of Canada.

The Catalogues

Ls The Beaver Flint Glass Company, Toronto, Price List was the oldest catalogue
available for this study. This company was more of a jobber than a manufacturer and
their articles of incorporation in 1896 listed a capital of only $5000, which would not
have been enough to set up a glass factory (Rottenberg and Tomlin 1928: 9).
Illustrations and page layouts in the Beaver Flint Glass Company catalogue are exact
matches for later catalogues published by the Diamond Flint Glass Company and the
Dominion Glass Company. In addition there are two mould lists printed on pages 52
and 57 of the Beaver Flint catalogue. One list is "Montreal Numbered Bottles" and the
other "Hamilton Numbered Bottles." These mould numbers match the mould numbers
and description from Toronto and Montreal numbered bottle lists in the Diamond Flint
Glass Company catalogue. All of this is strong evidence that the Beaver Flint Glass
Company was a distributer of the bottles produced by the Diamond Flint Glass
Company and its predecessor the Diamond Glass Company, which was founded in 1890
(Rottenberg and Tomlin 1982: 16). The Diamond Glass Company had a plant in
Hamilton which it closed down in 1898; the moulds and equipment were then moved to
their Toronto plant (Rottenberg and Tomlin 1982: 8). The fact that the Beaver Flint
Glass Company lists Hamilton numbered bottles rather than Toronto numbered bottles
suggests that it was published in 1897 or 1898.

2 The Sydenham Glass Co. Ltd. 1908 Illustrated Bottle Catalogue and Price List is
the only dated catalogue of the seven used in this study. In the back of this catalogue
is an extensive list of the bottle moulds and their numbers that were available from
the Sydenham Glass Company, which was in Wallaceburg, Ontario. This catalogue
bears a great deal of similarity to an undated catalogue published by the Diamond
Flint Glass Company and to a lesser extent the Beaver Flint Glass Company catalogue.




Both the Sydenham Glass Company and the Diamond Flint Glass Company catalogues
were printed by B. Plow & Co. of Montreal and they are in the same format and size.
Title pages for both catalogues are laid out with identical wording and type except for
the factory locations and company names. Pages outlining conditions of sales,
instructions for ordering, and illustrations of druggists' plate moulds are identical.
Many of the same bottles are illustrated in both catalogues but on different pages and
sometimes at slightly different prices. Nowhere in the Sydenham catalogue is there a
stated relationship between it and the Diamond Flint Glass Company; however in
February of 1908 the Sydenham Glass Company entered into a trade agreement with
the Diamond Flint Glass Company to lease the Owens automatic bottle-blowing
machine (Rottenberg and Tomlin 1982: 9, 70). The 1908 catalogue would appear to re-
flect this new relationship, which was further consolidated when both companies be-
came part of the Dominion Glass Company in 1913 (Rottenburg and Tomlin 1982: 9).
3. The Diamond Flint Glass Company Ltd., Montreal, Illustrated Bottle Catalogue
and Price List. This company was formed from the Diamond Glass Company in 1903,
and in 1913 it became the Dominion Glass Company Ltd. (King 1965: 90). The title
page of the catalogue lists factories in Toronto, Hamilton, and Montreal. As
mentioned earlier, the Hamilton plant was closed in 1897. However it was refurbished
in 1907 for production with the Owens automatic bottle-blowing machine (Rottenberg
and Tomlin 1982: 5). Page 47 of the Diamond Flint Glass catalogue states: "All our
sodas are now made by machine and cannot be excelled for accurate capacity, even
distribution of glass and strength." On the next page the catalogue states that beer
bottles were also machine-made. From this evidence it would appear that the
Diamond Flint Glass Company catalogue dates after 1907, probably between 1908 and
1913. The close resemblance between this catalogue and the 1908 Sydenham Glass
catalogue mentioned above suggests a date around 1908.

In the back of the Diamond Flint Glass Company catalogue there were lists of
"Montreal Numbered Bottles" and "Toronto Numbered Bottles." '

The remaining four catalogues were all published by the Dominion Glass

Company Limited of Montreal and are undated. These catalogues are numbered.
However, the numbers appear to be related to the type of glassware in each rather
than a chronological sequence. Dominion Glass was formed from the Diamond Flint
Glass Company in 1913 and is still in business today as Domglas Limited of Montreal
(King 1965: 90).
4 and 5. The Dominion Glass Company, Packers' Glassware Catalogue No. 11(a) and
Packers' Glassware Catalogue No. 11(b). Two slightly different Dominion Glass
Company catalogues in the Public Archives of Canada have exactly the same titles,
therefore they are being referred to as catalogues No. 11(a) and No. 11(b). Most of
the bottles offered in the two catalogues are the same; however, the order in which
they are presented has been changed. Catalogue No. 11(a) has 83 pages whereas
catalogue 11(b) has 85 pages. It is the section on closures in the two catalogues that
establishes that catalogue No. 11(a) was published before catalogue 11(b). Two types
of closures, Chelco and Schram, in catalogue No. 11(a) have been dropped from
catalogue No. 11(b). The Schram closure was for the Schram canning jar that was
patented in 1909 (Toulouse 1970: 411). There was a commercial agreement set up
between the Schram Company and the Diamond Flint Glass Company in November of
1910 for production of Schram jars and closures (Dominion Glass Company Papers, Vol.
29, Series Q, Item One). Both the Schram closure and the Schram canning jar are
illustrated in catalogue No. 11(a) but neither are illustrated or listed in catalogue No.
11(b). Two types of closures, the Duplex and the Kork-N-Seal, not listed in catalogue
No. 11(a) were added in catalogue No. 11(b). These closures continued to be produced
by the Dominion Glass Company into the 1930s. Both of these closure types are in the
1933 inventory of the Dominion Glass Company's Hamilton plant.







